IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

PINKNEY CARTER,	
Appellant,	
v.	Case No. SC06-156 L.T. No. 04-730 CFA
STATE OF FLORIDA,	
Appellee.	

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE **FOURTH** JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR **DUVAL** COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY DANIELS
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

DAVID A. DAVIS

ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. **0271543** LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET, SUITE 401 TALLAHASSEE, FL 32301 (850) 606-8500

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is a capital case arising from Duval County in which the Appellant,
Pinkney "Chip" Carter, was convicted of three counts of first degree murder and
sentenced to death for two of the homicides. He received a life sentence for the
third death.

The record on appeal is about 4,000 pages long and is contained in 24 volumes.

References to it will be in the form of "vol. no. R page no." For example, "16 R 1334" refers to page number 1334 that is found in volume 16.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An Indictment filed in the Circuit Court for Duval County on January 20, 2004 charged the defendant, Pinkney "Chip" Carter with three counts of first-degree murder (1 R 12-13). Later, Carter filed the following motions or notices that have relevance to this appeal:

- Motion to prohibit instruction on aggravating factors 5(h) and 5(i) (1 R
 Granted as to 5(h). Denied as to 5(i). (1 R 31).
 - 2. Motion for special verdict (1 R 32). Granted.¹
- 3. Motion to prohibit argument and/or instruction concerning first-degree felony murder (1 R 44). Denied (1 R 53).
- 4. Motion to dismiss and to declare death not a possible penalty and to declare sections 782.04 and 921.141, Florida Statutes, unconstitutional for a variety of reasons (2 R 212-224). Denied (2 R 226).
- 5. Motion to declare Florida's capital sentencing procedure unconstitutional under Ring v. Arizona. (2 R 239). Denied (2 R 255).
- 6. Motion to prohibit the State of Florida from seeking the death penalty (2 R 323). Denied (2 R 327).

1

Appellate counsel cannot find a record reference where the lower court explicitly granted the defendant's request. He assumes it did so because the jury returned specific verdicts for each victim as to whether the defendant committed the murder with premeditation and/or felony murder (4 R 548, 551, 554).

- 7. Notice of waiver of mitigating circumstance 921.141(6)(a) and motion in limine (3 R 423). Denied (3 R 429).
- 8. Defense requested jury instruction on circumstantial evidence (3 R 465). Denied. (3 R 466).
- 9. Defendant's requested jury instruction on voluntary intoxication. (3 R 467). Denied (3 R 469).
- 10. Defense requested jury instruction on heat of passion (3 R 470, 471)

 Denied (3 R 472).
- 11. Defendant's motion to declare Section 775.051, Florida Statutes, unconstitutional on its face and as applied in this case (3 R 473). Denied (3 R 492).

Carter proceeded to trial before Judge Lance Day, and the jury returned guilty verdicts, as charged, on all three counts (4 R 548-554). In each case, the jury specifically found the murders to have been committed with premeditation and during a burglary. It also found that Carter had used a firearm that caused the deaths in each count. The court denied the defendant's motion for new trial (4 R 557, 564).

Carter proceeded to the penalty phase part of the trial. Before that began, he filed a "Motion to prohibit instruction on the felony murder aggravating circumstance," (4 R 573), which the court denied. (4 R 575).

After hearing more evidence, argument, and instructions on the law, the jury returned the following recommendations:

- 1. As to Glenn Pafford: death by a vote of 9 to 3 (4 R 640).
- 2. As to Elizabeth Smith Reed: death by a vote of 8 to 4 (4R 642).
- 3. As to Courtney Nicole Smith: Life (4 R 645).

The court followed the recommendations, and it sentenced Carter to death for the murders of Pafford and Reed, and life without parole for the murder of Smith (4 R 720-725). In justifying the deaths sentences, it found as to both Pafford and Reed:

- The defendant had been previously convicted of another capital felony,
 i.e. the murders of Reed and Smith, or Pafford and Smith.
 - 2. The murder was committed during the course of a burglary
- 3. The murder was cold, calculated, and premeditated without any pretense of moral or legal justification.

(4 R 694-702, 702-706),

In mitigation, the court determined none of the statutory mitigators applied, but it found and uniformly gave "some weight" to each of the following nonstatutory mitigators:

1. The Defendant was raised in a broken home with a deprived childhood, but he was able to rise above it and become successful as a high school student and as an adult.

- 2. The Defendant was an above-average achiever in high school, junior college, and college.
- 3. The Defendant was elected president of a prestigious major club on campus at Oklahoma State University and worked with that club to help others.
- 4. The Defendant enlisted and had a distinguished military record in the United States Air Force for almost four years.
- 5. The Defendant has been a good employee for many years. He has a consistent work record from a very young age and also has been a supervisor over other people.
- 6. The Defendant has been a good son to both his father and mother in spite of the fact that his father abandoned him as a child. He had the strength to reconcile with his father when he became an adult.
- 7. The Defendant has been a good brother to Steve Carter, Mike Carter, and Cindy Starling, and he protected Ms. Starling during their early years.
- 8. The Defendant saved a child's life when he was working as a lifeguard in Georgia.
- 9. The Defendant has been a loyal friend to many people and made friends easily.
- 10. The Defendant has formed an especially close relationship with his nephew, Jacob.
- 11. The Defendant worked for a living in Kentucky while he was avoiding the police after committing this offense.
- 12. The Defendant has the potential to be a productive inmate. This is demonstrated by the way he acted towards other inmates in the Duval County Jail.
- 13. The Defendant has the support of his family and friends who continue to love him.
- 14. Society can be protected by life sentences without parole.
- 15. The Defendant offered to plead guilty as charged for three consecutive life sentences.
- 16. The Defendant resisted adopting the racist traits of his father and has had positive race relations throughout his life.
- 17. The Defendant's prior relationship with Elizabeth Reed and her children.

(4 R 707-716)

The court, in justifying its death sentences also said, "On balance, the aggravating circumstances in this case far outweigh the mitigating circumstances.... This Court further finds that any of the considered aggravating circumstances found in this case, standing alone, would be sufficient to outweigh the mitigation in total presented regarding the murders of Glenn Pafford and Elizabeth Reed." (4 R 717)

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

I. The Carter-Reed relationship

Pinkney "Chip" Carter and Elizabeth "Liz" Reed Smith met in July 1998 at a Publix Supermarket in Jacksonville where they worked (16 R 1494). Reed was married with four children, but she had separated from her husband earlier that year (16 R 1494). Sometime later, Carter and Reed began dating (14 R 1194-96), and in the fall of that year they began living together along with her four children, ages 14, 12, 6, 4 (13 R 883-84, 16 R 1496). Carter was 44 or 45 years old (16 R 1490). They stayed at Reed's or another apartment for several months. In 1999 Reed, with a significant amount of financial help from Carter, bought a 3 bedroom 2 bath house on Barkwood Drive home in Jacksonville (13 R 976, 16 R 1497-98).

They lived there for more than two years (13 R 927, 15 R 1208, 17 R 1564-66), during which time her divorce became final (16 R 1497-98), and Carter continued to help with the house payments. He also painted the house and laid carpet and tile in it (16 R 1503).

Carter and Reed had a good relationship during this time (13 R 928). Not only did the defendant love Reed, he enjoyed her children, and wanted to build a family with them. The did things together (13 R 928), such as going on trips to Universal studios, Disney World, Busch Gardens, and Six Flags over Georgia (16 R 1499). He bonded with Richard, Reed's oldest son, by taking him hunting in Georgia (13 R 913-14) and going to his baseball games (13 R 955). They spent Christmas, Thanksgiving, and Easter together (13 R 929). In June 2000, Carter took Reed and her children on a cruise to the Bahamas with Carter's sister, Cynthia Starling (17 R 1641-42) with whom they quickly became friends, and Liz and her children became a part of Carter's extended family.

Of course, Chip and Liz had arguments from time to time. They would break up, but they always got back together (13 R 911, 14 R 1194-96). During the separations they remained friends; indeed, they were more than best friends (15 R 1209-10), and the impression one gets is that they wanted to be a family. They

² Also, there is some evidence that despite Carter's efforts with Courtney, Reed's oldest daughter, he made little headway gaining her friendship (13 R 949).

never had a final separation; instead they remained close, and talked about getting back together. Liz never told Carter to stay away (15 R 1208-10, 17 R 1571), and during their times apart, he frequently called her on the telephone, and she likewise also called him (13 R 390, 16 R 1484-85). They saw each other often, though away from the children to keep them from becoming confused about the relationship (16 R 1500) Carter, according to his sister, was not depressed (15 R 1211), and he wanted to make the relationship work.

During this time Reed had serious financial problems. In the fall of 2001 she fell three months behind in the mortgage payments on the Barkwood Drive home. Fortunately, by January, 2002, she and Carter had reconciled, and he moved back into the house, and immediately paid the delinquent mortgage amounts as well as the current month's bill (16 R 1501, 1503). In total, he gave the bank \$2800 (17 R 1633-34). Within a month he also had made Liz the sole beneficiary of his life insurance policy (16 R 1504, 17 R 1629-30). Finally, after they had gotten back together, he asked her to marry him, and he gave her a 1-carat diamond ring, which she accepted (16 R 1504). In April and May, they went on a cruise together, which he paid for, and which they enjoyed (16 R 1505).

Yet, things had changed. In May he moved out again, Liz called off the engagement, and returned his ring (16 R 1510-11). Carter moved in with his mother, and lived in an upstairs apartment (14 R 1171; 16 R 1510-11). But, as

before, they apparently could not live apart, and Carter, at least, considered this latest move only a trial separation. (16 R 1510-11). As he said, "I still loved her, ... wanted to be with her, but you know, we had a difference of opinion." (16 R 1511)

Indeed, she again had not cleanly broken off with Carter, and she would come to his house on Sundays and Wednesdays-their days off and have sex with him (16 R 1512-13). "That was our normal thing whenever she came over." (16 R 1519)

Yet, things were different. Reed apparently was moving on to other men, and Carter learned by June or July 2002 that she was seeing Glenn Pafford, a "very nice gentleman" who managed the Publix where she worked (13 R 884, 14 R 1198, 16 R 1516, 17 R 1571). Indeed, by July 2002 she had been dating him for a couple of months (13 R 884). Jealous, Carter watched the Barkwood Drive house and saw Pafford's truck parked there (16 R 1515). About this time, Reed's next door neighbor found Carter in his yard (14 R 1137). When confronted, he had no weapon (14 R 1146), and he said he was only cutting through the neighbor's yard. He then went to his truck and drove away (14 R 1144).146). A few days later, someone saw Carter walking around neighborhood (14 R 1153), get into his truck, and drive away (14 R 1156).

Notwithstanding Reed also seeing Pafford, she visited with Carter on Sunday July 20, and they had sex as usual. She was happy and in a good mood (14 R 1185). Before leaving, she agreed to meet him at the Malabar, a bar or restaurant, on Tuesday July 22 (16 R 1521). She also gave him some prescription strength antidepressant pills (16 R 1520-21).

On Tuesday, she never showed up for the date (16 R 1522). Suspicious and jealous (17 R 1522-25, 1583), Carter drove by the house and saw not only her car, but Pafford's truck. He left and went home (16 R 1522).

Depressed, hurt, and confused, Carter did not know what was going on. He took the pills Reed had given him and drank 4-5 glasses of whiskey (16 R 1523-25). He had been up since the previous night, well over 30 hours but could not get to sleep (16 R 1523-24, 17 R 1622). He began having unusual thoughts (16 R 1523-25), and he asked himself "Why did she make a date and not show up and why was she seeing Glen Pafford and still coming over and having intimate relations with me, and I just wanted to know why?" (16 R 1523-25)

II. The Murders

About 11:30 p.m. Carter called Reed. Her 14 year old son, Richard, answered the phone and told him his mother was not there (13 R 887, 920-21; 14 R

³ Reed had prescriptions for Prozac and Fluoxitine-both antidepressants (22 R 2581).

1122). Having just driven by, Carter knew that was a lie, and she was not being honest with him (17 R 1584, 1600).⁴

Jealous and wanting answers, Carter got back into his truck and drove to Reed's house (17 R 1583). Unfortunately, as he got out of the truck at her house, he took with him a .22 caliber rifle he kept in the back seat of his truck.⁵ He did so because "I didn't want her to tell me, no, she's not going to talk to me. I wanted her to talk to me." (16 R 1526) He had, as he would later testify, no intent to shoot anyone (17 R 1588-89), but wanted to use the gun as a way to get answers, "Only if I had to." (17 R 1602)

As he approached the home, Pafford and Reed came outside, and it looked like he was about to leave.

Well, as I was approaching the door, it was real dark, and the door came open, and Mr. Pafford walked out, and Liz Reed was standing in the door at that time. . . .I heard Liz Reed tell Mr. Pafford, "I hope you get to feeling better tomorrow." . . . And then I asked Liz Reed, I said, "Liz, why are you still coming to see me if you're seeing Mr. Pafford too?" And then Mr. Pafford said, "Are you still seeing him?" And Liz Reed said, "No," and she did like I was crazy, a motion like I was crazy. And then Mr. Pafford said, "Do you want me to stay?" . . . And Liz Reed said, "No, I just want both of you to leave." . . .I told her I'm not leaving until I get some answers. She already had opened it, but

⁴ When Carter called Reed, she told her son that she did not want to talk to him (13 R 888).

⁵ Carter had bought the rifle in December 1977 while stationed with the Air Force in Oklahoma. It was a loaded16 shot semi automatic rifle (15 R 1315, 16 R 1350, 1352) that already had one round in the chamber (17 R 1561-62).

she opened it more for me to come in, and I'm not sure if she opened it for Mr. Pafford too, but I know he came in.

(17 R 1532-33)

As quoted, it was "real dark," and Carter was unsure sure if porch light was on (14 R1025). Because of that neither Pafford nor Reed saw the rifle, which the defendant was holding by his side to hide as much as possible (17 R 1593). Pafford came in, laid his shoes on a couch but kept his car keys in his hand (13 R 987; 15 R 1213; 17 R 1532-33, 1593).

Once inside, Reed saw the gun and grabbed it with both hands (17 R 1618) and tried to pull it from Carter. They struggled (17 R 1534) as Courtney, the 16-year-old daughter, came into the living room. She quickly retreated down the hallway to her room (17 R 1534). Richard, who was in his room, heard a single shot then a female saying, "Call 911. Oh my God, Call 911" (13 R 890, 15 R 1233). He thought it sounded like his sister (13 R 890, 15 R 1243), but it could have been his mother who called for help, and he later admitted he was confused who it was (15 R 1229, 1236, 1242-43). Richard had heard no arguing (13 R 923) or doors slamming (13 R 924).

Courtney had been hit in the head with a single shot (14 R 1107-1108). She was not dead, and her body was in the hallway leading to the living room (13 R 893).

Before Richard left his room, Liz had run to Courtney, and in a moment, Carter shot her twice in the head (17 R 1534-35). He did not know why he did that, and it had happened so quickly she had not had time to put up her hands to defend herself. (14 R 1103-1104, 17 R 1535, 1755-57)

Pafford, who stood by the front door with his keys in hand the entire time, was shot three times at close range (17 R 1536, 1578, 1558, 1577). At trial, Carter said he did not why he shot Pafford (17 R 1572). He was simply confused and having thoughts he had not had before. Just in a matter of seconds everything happened.

Carter left the house and returned to where he was living. Richard called 911 (13 R 897). A rescue unit responded and took Courtney's body to a hospital where she died two days later. (13 R 965; 14 R 1107). Reed and Pafford died instantly.

When Carter got home, he wrote two suicide notes (14 R 1177, 1180, 15 R 1228), intending to kill himself (17 R 1539-40). But, lacking nerve, he fled to the Mexican border in Texas. On the way, he stopped in Valdosta, Lake City, and Tallahassee to sleep and get money and gas (15 R 1256-58, 17 R 1539-40). He

⁶ He also had no defensive wounds (14 R 1096).

⁷ She had no defensive wounds (14 R 1111).

also stole a license plate from a friend's car that had been rarely driven in the last several years (15 R 1265, 1267).

By August 5th, the defendant was at the Rio Grande River in Texas (15 R 1273-75, 17 R 1541-42). He left his truck on the American side, threw the murder weapon in the river, and tried to cross into Mexico, but the Mexican military stopped and arrested him (15 R 1304, 1306). He was released some days later, and eventually he wandered into the Central American countries of Belize, Guatemala, and Honduras (17 R 1541-42). He tried to survive there, but could not, so he returned to the United States (17 R 1623). He worked in Illinois, and in Kentucky he had a job as a roofer under an assumed name. (17 R 1542). He let his hair grow out, but did nothing else to disguise himself (17 R 1624-25). Eventually, he was arrested (16 R 1402, 1407), and at that time he had no guns (16 R 1407, 1410).

III. Who is Chip Carter?

Pinkney "Chip" Carter was 47 years old in 2002. Born in Georgia in 1954, he was the second of four children of Pinkney Winton "P.W." Carter and Lena Geneva Carter. She was 14 or 15 when they married(20 R 2203-2204), but marriage never sat particularly well with P.W. He acted as if single and was, for lack of a better word, a womanizer (20 R 2203-04), and he frequently left his wife and children for long periods. Although the father of three boys and a girl, he

provided scant, sporadic support, either financially or emotionally (20 R 2203-2205). When home, which was mercifully rare, he was very strict and quick tempered (20 R 2205). He terrorized his children (20 R 2223-24) and beat his wife (20 R 2205).

Lena, though seen by her children as a good mother (20 R 2206), was very subservient to and scared of P.W. In time, however, they divorced, and the mother and children's lives, while never very happy became even more bleak. What little money he spent on his family while married stopped after the divorce (20 R 2220), and Chip Carter's brothers and sisters were reduced to working in the school cafeterias for free lunches (20 R 2233), scrounging underneath car seats for lost change (20 R 2221), and living in a house where the utilities were frequently turned off. (20 R 2221). As Cynthia Starling, Carter's sister explained, "We were just trying to survive . . .Our frame of reference was just trying to survive." (20 R 2263). They were very, very poor (21 R 2377).

Out of this extreme poverty, however, the children, less the father, remained close, not only to each other, but to their mother as well, even when Lena's mental health broke and she had to be hospitalized (22 R 2212). Indeed, at the time of the murders, Carter lived with her and his brother (16 R 1510-11)

0

⁸ One time, Carter had broken his arm. When P.W. learned of this, "He just picked him [Carter] up by his ears and slung him on the bed and that was it for the night. . . . The following morning he had to have medical attention." (20 R 2223)

P.W. eventually remarried, and that is notable only because he destroyed his new wife's family in much the same way as he had done his and Lena's. Laura Lee, the new wife, apparently had money, and more than that, she welcomed Chip and his brothers and sister as part of her family (20 R 2235). But that was not enough. P.W. continued his mean, violent ways, beating Laura and her children (21 R 2443, 2460, 2463). Like Chip and his brothers and sister, Lee's children were always afraid (21 R 2445, 2461) and lived in a day to day terror of the man (21 R 2447).

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