### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

PINKEY W. CARTER,		
Appellant, v.	CASE NO.	SC06-156
STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.		

## ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

CHARMAINE M. MILLSAPS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0989134

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 COUNSEL FOR THE STATE

####

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

- 79 -

11:24, and was informed by Reed's son, Rick Smith, that his mother was not home, which he testified did not believe because he had driven by three hours earlier and saw Mr. Pafford there. Carter's own testimony was that he intended to commit aggravated assault "if he had to". Carter was going to force Ms. Reed to see him regardless of her wishes. Carter never had consent to enter Ms. Reed's home - far from it - she specifically asked Carter to leave before he entered her house. Carter basically barged into the victim's house, armed with a loaded rifle, against the owner's expressed wishes. The problem of an invited guest turning criminal or violent that was at issue in Delgado is not at issue here. Carter was not an invited quest. The entire problem of what constitutes revocation of that consent addressed by Delgado is not present in this case. Delgado does not apply to cases, as this one, where the defendant entered without consent. Consent obtained by refusing to leave is no consent at all. Cf Johnson v. State, 921 So.2d 490, 508 (Fla. 2005)(concluding that Johnson was not entitled to relief pursuant to *Miller* (a precursor to *Delgado*) because he obtained entry under false pretenses and consent obtained by trick or fraud is actually no consent at all and will not serve as a defense to burglary citing Schrack v. State, 793 So.2d 1102 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001) and Alvarez v. State, 768 So.2d 1224 (Fla.

- 80 -

3d DCA 2000)); Schrack v. State, 793 So.2d 1102, 1104 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001)(explaining that "Delgado, however, concerns only the situation where the defendant enters the premises with the occupant's consent."); Alvarez v. State, 768 So.2d 1224, 1225 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000)(explaining that Delgado held only that a person known to the occupant who was consensually invited into her premises may not be held quilty of a burglary merely because she later commits an offense within the structure.). Carter's reliance on Justice Almon's dissent in Davis v. State, 737 So.2d 480, 484-487 (Ala. 1999), is misplaced. Obviously, this was the dissent. Most importantly, the logic of the dissent, which is "every murder committed indoors" becomes a capital murder ignores the entire foundation for the crime of burglary. It was the "`mere' fact that the murder occurred inside a dwelling" made it a capital crime at common law. The concept of burglary was that a felony was committed inside a dwelling versus outdoors. As this Court has explained "the privilege of nonretreat from the home stems not from the sanctity of property rights, but from the time-honored principle that the home is the ultimate sanctuary." Weiand v. State, 732 So.2d 1044, 1052 (Fla. 1999). That is the entire basis for the crime of burglary. Burglary was never a property crime. As the California Supreme Court explained:

- 81 -

The interest sought to be protected by the common law crime of burglary was clear. At common law, burglary was the breaking and entering of a dwelling in the nighttime. The predominant factor underlying common law burglary was the desire to protect the security of the home, and the person within his home. Burglary was not an offense against property, real or personal, but an offense against the habitation.

People v. Davis, 958 P.2d 1083, 1088 (Cal. 1998)(citing Note, Statutory Burglary-The Magic of Four Walls and a Roof, 100 U. Pa. L.Rev. 411 (1951)); See also Model Penal Code Commentaries (1980) com. to § 221.1, p. 67 (observing that the "notable severity of burglary penalties is accounted for by the fact that the offense was originally confined to violent nighttime assault on a dwelling. The dwelling was and remains each man's castle, the final refuge from which he need not flee even if the alternative is to take the life of an assailant. It is the place of security for his family, as well as his most cherished possessions. Thus it is perhaps understandable that the offense should have been a capital felony at common law .... "). The entire rationale for the crime of burglary was that it was worse to enter a home with the intent to harm the person whose home it was than to harm the person outside their home. The "mere" fact that the murder occurred inside a dwelling was the crime of burglary. Justice Almon admits that when there is a struggle, "the killer will understand that he is not welcome." Davis, 737 So.2d at 485. But the phrase "not welcome" in legal terms means

- 82 -

revocation of consent to enter. Justice Almon states that there is no capital offense of "murder of a person in the person's home." Yes, there is. It is burglary with premeditated murder as the underlying felony. Justice Almon, in a footnote, suggests that he would not be "offended" if the Alabama legislature created a capital offense of "murder of a person in that person's home." *Davis*, 737 So.2d at 486, n.3. This is exactly what the Florida Legislature did albeit it in different words.

Moreover, here, there was no original consent to enter that was then revoked. Carter's own version of events was that Ms. Reed asked him to leave. She never willingly consented to Carter's entry. There was no original consent to enter in this case. Ms. Reed told Carter to leave while he was outside the front door but he ignored her expressed wishes and entered her home against her wishes. Even Justice Almon would find burglary under the facts of this case. Here, there is no "guessing" into a capital conviction. Davis, 737 So.2d at 486.

Carter also asserts that when a premeditated murder occurs inside a home, the during the course of a burglary aggravator becomes an automatic aggravator. Carter acknowledges this Court's holding in *Blanco v. State*, 706 So.2d 7, 11 (Fla.1997). This Court "has consistently rejected claims that the

- 83 -

aggravating circumstance that the murder was committed in the course of committing a specified felony is unconstitutional because it constitutes an automatic appravator and does not narrow the class of persons eligible for the death penalty." Rogers v. State, 2007 WL 108367, \*11 (Fla. January 18, 2007)(citing Arbelaez v. State, 898 So.2d 25, 46-47 (Fla. 2005)(quoting Ault v. State, 866 So.2d 674, 686 (Fla. 2003)). The United States Supreme Court, likewise, has rejected the claim that using the same fact as the basis of a conviction and as a basis for an appravating circumstance violates the Eighth Amendment. Lowenfield v. Phelps, 484 U.S. 231, 108 S.Ct. 546, 98 L.Ed.2d 568 (1988); Blystone v. Pennsylvania, 494 U.S. 299, 110 S.Ct. 1078, 108 L.Ed.2d 255 (1990). There is a serious flaw in the logic of aggravators being "automatic." Yes, certain fact patterns give rise to certain aggravators. For example, if a woman victim were raped, beaten, and then strangled to death, this would "automatically" give rise to the HAC aggravator.; Banks v. State, 700 So.2d 363, 366 (Fla. 1997) (affirming finding of HAC where victim was sexually battered before being shot citing Swafford v. State, 533 So.2d 270, 277 (Fla.1988) and Lightbourne v. State, 438 So.2d 380, 391 (Fla.1983)); Hitchcock v. State, 578 So.2d 685, 693 (Fla. 1990)(upholding HAC aggravator and stating that strangulations are nearly per se

- 84 -

heinous). But counsel fails to explain what the constitutional problem with that is. The trial court properly found the during a course of a burglary aggravator.

#### Harmless error

The error, if any, was harmless. Carter seems to be limiting his attack to the aggravator, not the conviction. But as to the conviction, even if the merger doctrine applied, because the jury found Carter guilty of both premeditated and felony murder by special verdict, any flaw in the felony murder theory does not matter. The verdicts were special verdicts finding Carter quilty of both premeditated murder and felony murder with burglary being the underlying felony. (R. Vol. IV 548-556). The cases reversing convictions when one of the theories is legally invalid involve general verdicts. Yates v. United States, 354 U.S. 298, 1 L. Ed. 2d 1356, 77 S. Ct. 1064 (1957)(holding a general verdict is invalid when it rests on multiple bases, one of which is legally invalid because "it is impossible to tell which ground the jury selected."); Fitzpatrick v. State, 859 So.2d 486 (Fla.2003) (reversing first degree murder conviction due to improper definition of burglary as the basis for the felony murder conviction where a general verdict was employed citing Mackerley v. State, 777 So.2d 969 (Fla. 2001)); Cf. Brooks v. State, 918 So.2d 181, 221 (Fla. 2005) (Pariente, C.J.,

- 85 -

dissenting from denial of rehearing) (averring that reversal of a first degree murder conviction was required because "the general verdict of quilt precludes us from determining whether the jury relied upon the valid premeditated murder theory or the legally invalid felony murder theory."); Brooks v. State, 918 So.2d 181, 221 (Fla. 2005)(Lewis, J., dissenting)(noting "the jury in the instant matter entered only a general verdict finding Brooks quilty of first-degree murder after being instructed on both theories."). Where, as here, there is a special verdict, any flaw in one theory does not undermine the validity of the other theory. United States v. Najjar, 300 F.3d 466, 480 & n.3 (4th Cir. 2002)(explaining that a special verdict, as opposed to general verdict, obviates any Yates problem by allowing a court to determine upon what factual and legal basis the jury decided a given question and affirming convictions regardless of an Yates problem because they rest on at least one valid theory of liability specifically found by the jury and thus any error was harmless); Tenner v. Gilmore, 184 F.3d 608, 612 (7<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1999)(explaining that "[s]pecial verdicts avoid the Yates problem, because the court then can be confident that the facts as the jury believed them to be are a legally proper basis of conviction."). Any Yates problem was cured by the special verdict form. The premeditated theory is legally sufficient to

- 86 -

sustain the first degree murder conviction regardless of the validity of the felony murder theory.

As to the appravator, it is harmless as well. Even if the burglary aggravator is stricken, two stronger aggravators remain. Both CCP and the prior violent aggravator remain. While this Court has held that CCP is one of the "most serious aggravators set out in the statutory scheme," the prior violent felony aggravator, when that prior felony is a murder, is equally serious. Farina v. State, 937 So.2d 612, 625 (Fla. 2006) (noting that HAC and CCP were among "the most serious aggravators set out in the statutory scheme" citing Larkins v. State, 739 So.2d 90, 95 (Fla.1999)). Here, the prior violent felony aggravator is based on the contemporaneous murders of the three victims. Most findings of prior violent felony aggravator based on contemporaneous murders involve one other murder victim, not two, as here. In other words, the prior violent felony aggravator is particularly strong in this case both because the felony involved is a murder and there are two other victims. In its sentencing order, the trial court specifically concluded "that any of the considered aggravating circumstances found in this case, standing alone, would be sufficient to outweigh the mitigation in total presented regarding the murders

- 87 -

of Glenn Pafford and Elizabeth Reed." The error, if any, in finding the burglary aggravator was harmless.

# ISSUE IV WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN ASSIGNING GREAT WEIGHT TO TWO OF THE AGGRAVATORS? (Restated)

Carter asserts that the trial court abused its discretion by assigning great weight to the prior violent felony aggravator and the during a course of a burglary aggravator in light of the life recommendation for the murder of Courtney Smith. Carter admits that the trial court correctly found these aggravators. First, the judge is not bound by a jury's determination of weight. According to this Court, the judge must independently determine the existence of aggravating and mitigating circumstances, and the weight to be given each. Moreover, a jury's life recommendation in one murder does not limit the judge's discretion in weighing aggravators in the other murders. Here, the jury recommended death for Pafford and Reed, so the jury agreed with the judge that aggravators outweighted mitigators as to those two murders. Thus, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in assigning great weight to both the prior violent felony aggravator and the burglary aggravator as to both Ms. Reed and Mr. Pafford.

#### The trial court's ruling

The trial court assigned great weight to both aggravators as to both victims, Ms. Reed and Mr. Pafford. (R. VI 698, 699, 702,703)

## The standard of review

The weight to be given aggravating factors is within the discretion of the trial court, and it is subject to the abuse of discretion standard. *Buzia v. State*, 926 So.2d 1203, 1216 (Fla. 2006)(citing *Sexton v. State*, 775 So.2d 923, 934 (Fla. 2000)). Discretion is abused "only where no reasonable man would take the view adopted by the trial court." *Buzia*, 926 So.2d at 1216. Merits

As this Court has explained, under section 921.141(3), Florida Statutes, the trial court must independently determine the existence of aggravating and mitigating circumstances, <u>and the</u> <u>weight to be given each</u>. *State v. Steele*, 921 So.2d 538, 546 (Fla. 2005)(rejecting an argument requiring specific jury findings on aggravators because the findings "could unduly influence the trial court's own determination of how to sentence the defendant."). A judge is not bound by a jury's determination of the weight to be given the aggravators and mitigators. So, even if the jury rejects an aggravator, the judge is not required to do likewise. But, in fact, in this case, we do not know what weight the jurors assigned to these two aggravators. For example, while the jury found the murder of Courtney Smith to be premeditated, they were not instructed on CCP as to her murder. The defendant admitted, on the stand, that he intended to murder Reed and Pafford but claimed that he did not intend to murder Smith. According to the defendant, Smith was shot while he was struggling with her mother for the rifle. The jury could have found and assigned great weight to the burglary aggravator but found that the mitigation outweighed that aggravator without the CCP aggravator.

Moreover, a jury's life recommendation in one murder does not limit the judge's discretion in weighing aggravators in the other murders. Here, the jury recommended death for Pafford and Reed, so the jury agreed with the judge that aggravators outweighted mitigators as to those two murders. Thus, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in assigning great weight to both the prior violent felony aggravator and the during a course of a burglary aggravator as to both Ms. Reed and Mr. Pafford. Harmless error

The error, if any, was harmless. The trial court also assigned great weight to the CCP aggravator. In its sentencing order, the trial court specifically concluded "that any of the

- 90 -

considered aggravating circumstances found in this case, standing alone, would be sufficient to outweigh the mitigation in total presented regarding the murders of Glenn Pafford and Elizabeth Reed." The trial court would have sentenced Carter to death regardless of the weight assigned to these two aggravators.

#### ISSUE V

# WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT'S SENTENCING ORDER IS SUFFICIENTLY CLEAR? (Restated)

Carter asserts that the trial court's sentencing order lacks sufficient clarity. The trial court's twenty-five page sentencing

order is quite clear. It covers the aggravator and all the proposed mitigators advocated by the defense. In additional, the trial court considered and found two non-statutory mitigators independently.

## The trial court's ruling

Defense counsel, in his written sentencing memoranda, asserted that the death recommendation were "not strong mandates for the death penalty", "in view of the life recommendation for the murder of Courtney Smith." (R. Vol. IV 650). The trial court wrote a twenty-five page sentencing order. (R. Vol. IV 694-718).

## Preservation

This issue is partially preserved. Defense counsel argued that the judge should consider the life recommendation in one of the murders in sentencing as to the other two murders. However, any claim regarding lack of clarity was not preserved. Carter did not file a motion to correct the sentencing order pointing out any alleged deficiencies.

#### The standard of review

The standard of review for clarity of the sentencing order is unclear but it seems odd to defer to the trial court in an area that concerns appellate review. So, the standard is probably *de novo*.

## Merits

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